4.4	FILED SID J. WHATE
I N	THE SUPREME COURT OF F	// /
RENETHA WYCHE,	:	CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By-Crief Deputy Clerk
Petitione	er,	\sim (
V S.	C	ase No. 77,440

STATE OF FLORIDA,

7

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEPHEN KROSSCHELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 351199

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

đ

On February 19, 1988, the Hillsborough County state attorney charged the petitioner, RENETHA C. WYCHE, with two counts of battering a law enforcement officer and one count of resisting an officer with violence. (R146) She was also charged separately with a violation of a Tampa ordinance forbidding loitering for prostitution. (R143) The two cases were consolidated on April 4, 1988. (R143) On April 7, 1988, Judge Bucklew granted a motion for judgment of acquittal on one of the battering charges. (R49) The jury then found Wyche guilty of the remaining charges. (R120)

Wyche was on probation for carrying a concealed weapon and exhibition of a dangerous weapon. (R126) She admitted two technical violations of her probation. (R126) Judge Bucklew revoked her probation. (R127) She was sentenced to five years in prison for battery on a law enforcement officer, two years consecutive for resisting with violence, sixty days concurrent for loitering, five years concurrent for carrying a concealed weapon, and time served for exhibition of a dangerous weapon, (R133-34)

On appeal, the district court ruled on January 18, 1991, that she should be granted a new trial on the battery charge because the trial court refused to instruct the jury on simple battery as **a** lesser included offense. <u>Wyche v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 953 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The court rejected her other claims. On March 6, 1991, the court agreed to certify **a** question to this court on whether the Tampa prostitution loitering ordinance was constitutional.

An amended notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was filed on March 7, 1991. This court issued a briefing schedule on March 11, 1991. Undersigned counsel then discovered that the petitioner was dead. On April 5, 1991, he filed a suggestion of death and asked for permission to continue the appeal, because he believed the issues involved were important. On June 19, 1991, this court postponed a decision on jurisdiction and set a new briefing schedule.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

đ

About 9 p.m. on February 1, 1988, officers Mitchell and Sutcoff saw the appellant, RENETHA C. WYCHE, standing near Nebraska and 12th Avenue in Tampa and wearing a black lingerie teddy and brown high-heeled shoes. (R17-18) She waved and yelled at passing cars for twenty to thirty minutes. (R18-19) She talked to the occupants of one car for a few minutes before it drove away. (R19-20) Another car stopped, and she entered it. (R20) The officers followed and stopped it but did not arrest the male driver. (R20, 31) They arrested her for loitering for the purpose of prostitution and gave her an opportunity to explain herself. (R21, 42) They handcuffed her and took her to the station and then to central booking. (R21)

Mitchell testified that, after they removed her handcuffs, she said she had taken twenty valiums. (R22-23) They said they would take her to the hospital to check her condition. (R38) As they handcuffed her, she yelled, kicked, and scratched. (R23-24) Sutcoff wrestled her to the ground before they could handcuff her. (R24) They carried her to the police car. (R24) Mitchell was uninjured, but she kicked at him and used her fingernails to try to claw him. (R25) Mitchell saw her kick at Sutcoff. (R26) A previous injury to Sutcoff's thumb began bleeding again. (R26)

Mitchell testified that the officers immobilized her with a restraining rope and put her in the car. (R27) She was soon free. (R27) They restrained her again with the rope before taking her to the hospital. (R27) Hospital personnel pumped her stomach but

found no Valium. (R28, 35) She told them she had said she had taken valium only because she did not want to go to jail, (R28) They did not remove her clothes or laugh at her. (R79)

5

Wyche testified she was going to a funeral home to visit an employee friend, (R52-53) The teddy -- similar to a bathing suit -- and high heels were her usual dancing attire. (R52-53, 65) She stopped a friend, because he would buy her food. (R53) The police arrested them at a restaurant for loitering and claimed she had a pending robbery arrest warrant. (R53) They beat her at the station when she would not talk about the robbery and hog-tied her before going to central booking. (R53-56) A booking picture showed that they blackened her eye. (R57) She denied mentioning valiums. (R55) Instead, they said she had taken drugs, and a nurse consequently would not let her in the jail. (R55) Wyche was hysterical but did not fight as they bound her to take her to the hospital. (R58-59, 64) They laughed when hospital staff removed her clothes. (R60)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

đ

Ι, Numerous courts have ruled that prostitution loitering ordinances are unconstitutional. The ordinance is overbroad because it infringes on the first amendment rights of prostitutes. Loitering laws are generally subject to strict constitutional scrutiny, because they necessarily affect the rights of citizens to freedom of movement and association. The ordinance improperly affects the rights of prostitutes to conduct many everyday activities protected under the first amendment. The ordinance is unnecessary because other, substantially less restrictive laws are already available to combat the evil which the ordinance seeks to prevent and deter. Consequently, the claim is irrelevant that speech with intent to solicit prostitution is not constitutionally protected, The less restrictive laws are still preferable because they do not influence prostitutes to give up their first amendment In any event, the ordinance does not require proof of rights. intent, only of circumstances which might lead onlookers to think that the intent exists, even if in fact it does not exist.

II. The ordinance is vague because its focus on the subjective beliefs of officers about the subjective state of mind of prostitutes is too nebulous to allow clear, non-arbitrary enforcement. **Officers** will not arrest everyone who could be arrested under this ordinance and will make their decisions to arrest based on their personal predilections against prostitutes. If the ordinance requires proof of specific intent, then prostitutes will be improperly forced to curtail their exercise of their first

amendment right to freedom of expression, because they will be uncertain which circumstances will lead an onlooking officer to conclude that they are soliciting for prostitution.

5

III. The ordinance **does** not require proof of an evil intent and therefore violates substantive due process because it fails to state **a** crime. Even if it does require this proof, merely sauntering down the street with the intent to commit prostitution is not a crime. It is instead only preparation to commit a crime. Proof merely of evil intent is insufficient without proof of an overt act that launches the consummation of **the** offense.

IV. The ordinance allows the fact **finder** to consider that the accused has previously been convicted of prostitution. The ordinance therefore contradicts numerous decisions of this court and two Florida statutes which state that prior crimes cannot be used **as** substantive evidence unless the collateral crime shares unique characteristics with the charged crime and **is** strikingly similar to **it**. A municipality has no authority to create exceptions to state-wide statutes and to decisions of this court which interpret these statutes. Evidence of prior convictions **for** prostitution would undoubtedly **have a** powerful prejudicial impact on the finder of fact in prostitution loitering cases.

V. This court has held that loitering requires proof of a threat to public safety and that the state cannot use loitering laws **as** a substitute when its evidence will not satisfy the conventional prostitution laws. A municipality has no authority to overrule decisions of this court by enacting a loitering statute

which does not require proof of a threat to public safety and which can be used as a substitute when the conventional prostitution laws might be unavailing.

s,

VI. The six-month maximum penalty for prostitution loitering exceeds the one-month maximum penalty for regular loitering and for prostitution or solicitation. The municipal ordinance is less serious and therefore cannot have harsher penalties than the statewide offenses.

VII. The evidence failed to show that Wyche had the specific intent to prostitute herself. Instead, it showed only that she was wearing black clothes similar to a bathing suit and was calling to passers-by. While this conduct was certainly suspicious, it did not prove an improper intent beyond a reasonable doubt, particularly because her conduct was otherwise protected under the first amendment.

VIII. This court should **abate** all of the petitioner's convictions, because she died while her appeal was pending.

ARGUMENT

c

ISSUE I

THE ORDINANCE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT OVERBROADLY AND UNNECES-SARILY INFRINGES ON THE FIRST AMEND-MENT RIGHTS OF PROSTITUTES TO FREE-DOM OF SPEECH, MOVEMENT, AND ASSOCI-ATION.

This appeal addresses the constitutionality of City of Tampa ordinance 24-61(A) (10), which reads as follows:¹

It is unlawful for any person in the city to • • • loiter, while a pedestrian or in a motor vehicle, in or near any thoroughfare or place open to the public in **a** manner and under circumstances manifesting the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting, or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution, sodomy, fellatio, cunnilingus, masturbation for hire, pandering, or other lewd or indecent act. Αmong the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether this purpose is manifested are: that such person is a known prostitute, pimp, sodomist, performer of fellatio, performer of cunnilingus, masturbator for hire or panderer and repeatedly beckons to, stops or attempts to stop, or engages passers-by in conversation, or repeatedly stops, or attempts to stop motor vehicle operators by hailing, waving of arms or any bodily gesture for the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution, sodomy, fellatio, cunnilingus, masturbation for hire, pandering, or other lewd or

¹The constitutionality of this ordinance was not raised in the trial court. The ordinance, however, is facially overbroad and **void** on its face. A conviction under a facially void statute is fundamental error which is appealable despite the lack of objection below. <u>State v. Trushin</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982); <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). In addition, because this court has agreed to consider this case despite the intervening death of the petitioner, undersigned counsel assumes that it is interested as **a** matter of judicial policy and economy in all aspects of the ordinance that are arguably unconstitutional.

indecent act. No arrest shall be made for **a** violation of this subsection unless the arresting officer first affords such person the opportunity to explain this conduct, and no one shall be convicted of violating this subsection if it appears at trial that the explanation given was true and disclosed **a** lawful purpose.

a. For the purpose of this subsection 10, a "known prostitute, **pimp**, sodomist, performer of fellatio, performer of cunnilingus, masturbator for hire or panderer" is **a** person who, within one (1) year previous to the date of arrest for violation of this subsection, had within the knowledge of the arresting officer been convicted of violating any ordinance of the city or law of any state defining and punishing acts of soliciting, committing, or offering or agreeing to commit prostitution, sodomy, fellatio, cunnilingus, masturbation for hire, pandering, or other lewd or indecent act.

b. For the purpose of this subsection 10 . ., "any person" shall also include panderers ok solicitors of sexual acts, commonly referred to **as** "johns" or "tricks," who loiter in a manner and under circumstances manifesting the purpose of participating in, procuring, purchasing or soliciting any sexual act for hire made illegal by state law. Among the circumstances which may be considered in determining whether this purpose is manifested are: that such person, while pedestrian or in a motor vehicle, repeatedly beckons to, attempts to stop, engages or attempts to engage in conversation with any person by hailing, waving of arms or any bodily gesture for the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution, sodomy, fellatio, cunnilingus, masturbation for hire, pandering, or other lewd or indecent act.

(R193-94)

¢

This Tampa ordinance is not significantly different from **a** Jacksonville ordinance ruled overbroad in violation of the first amendment in Johnson v. Carson, 569 F. Supp. **974** (M.D. Fla. **1983**), and **a** revised version of the ordinance ruled overbroad by Florida

Circuit Judge Lawrence D. Fay in <u>Rivera V. State</u>, 31 Fla. Supp. 2d 128 (Fla. 4th Jud. Cir. 1988). Numerous courts in other jurisdictions have invalidated similar ordinances, including <u>Coleman V.</u> <u>City of Richmond</u>, 364 S.E.2d 239 (Va. App. 1988), <u>on rehearing</u>, 368 S.E.2d 298 (Va. App. 1988); <u>Christian V. City of Kansas City</u>, 710 S.W.2d 11 (Mo. App. 1986); <u>Profit V. City of Tulsa</u>, 617 P.2d 250 (Okla. Crim, App. 1980); <u>Brown V. Municipality of Anchorage</u>, 584 P.2d 35 (Alaska 1978); <u>People V. Gibson</u>, 521 P.2d 774 (Colo. 1974); <u>City of Detroit V. Bowden</u>, 149 N.W.2d 771 (Mich. App. 1967).²

Although these cases have somewhat different rationales, the principal rationale is that prostitution loitering laws overbroadly have a chilling effect on behavior protected by the First Amendment. The district court below ignored this argument and instead treated the issue as a due process vagueness question. The court reasoned that the ordinance must be constitutional because it was more specific than Florida's loitering law, which this court had twice upheld against vagueness challenges.

As will be discussed in Issue 11, this reasoning betrayed the district court's misunderstanding of the void for vagueness doctrine. In any event, however, petitioner's primary argument was first amendment overbreadth rather than fourteenth amendment vagueness. Neither of this court's decisions cited by the second

²Undersigned counsel has been told that two Florida circuit courts have also invalidated local ordinances against loitering for the purpose of engaging in drug related activities. <u>State v.</u> <u>Calloway</u>, Case no. 89-4717 (Fla. 18th Jud. Cir. 1989) (Melbourne ordinance 88.62); <u>In the Interest of E.L.</u>, Case No. 89-1876 (Fla. 18th Jud. Cir. 1990) (Sanford ordinance 2032). Counsel, however, has not actually seen the written orders filed in these cases.

district that upheld loitering statutes -- <u>State v. Ecker</u>, 311 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1975), and <u>Watts v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 205 (Fla. 1985) -- squarely addressed the first amendment issue, probably because Florida's loitering statute does not implicate the first amendment as clearly and directly as Tampa's prostitution loitering ordinance **does**.

The second district's incomprehension of petitioner's primary issue was like the third district's analysis of an ordinance forbidding bartenders from fraternizing with customers. <u>Miller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 411 So.2d 299 (Fla. **3d DCA** 1982). The majority treated the issue as **a** vagueness question, but, as Judge Pearson correctly pointed out in dissent,

> [w] hat the majority totally overlooks when it says "that the ordinance in question adequately apprises an employee of an alcoholic beverage establishment of the proscribed conduct" is that while that may meet the objection on vagueness grounds, it does not come close to addressing the objection that included within proscribed conduct is constitutionally protected speech and conduct. Vagueness and overbreadth are not the same things.

Id. at 301-02 n.7 (Pearson, J., dissenting).

Loitering is defined as "to be dilatory; to be slow in movement; to stand around or move slowly about: to stand idly around; to spend time idly; to saunter; to delay; to idle; to linger; to lag behind," <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, 5th ed, p. 849 (West 1979) Loitering of this sort is constitutionally protected, because aimless strolling is an aspect of liberty within the "sensitive First Amendment area," <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156, 165 (1972), and is one of the amenities of

life extolled by Walt Whitman and Henry David Thoreau. "These amenities have dignified the right of dissent and have honored the right to be nonconformists and the right to defy submissiveness. They have encouraged lives of high spirits rather than hushed, suffocating silence." Id. at 164; Brown V. Municipality of Anchorage, **584** P.2d 35, 37 (Alaska 1978).

By limiting the ability of prostitutes to loiter, Tampa ordinance 24-61(A)(10) encroaches into their first amendment rights to freedom of association and movement. "(L)aws prohibiting loitering in general suffer constitutional defects because they have an unwarranted chilling effect on a person's freedom of movement and speech." <u>City of Seattle v. Slack</u>, 784 P.2d 494, 497 (Wash. 1989). The "'rights of locomotion, freedom of movement, to go where one pleases, and to use the public streets in a way that does not interfere with the personal liberty of others' are implicit in the first and fourteenth amendments." <u>Sawyer v. Sandstrom</u>, 615 F.2d 311 (5th Cir. 1980) (<u>guoting Byofsky v. Boroush of Middletown</u>, 401 F. Supp. 1242, 1254 (M.D. Pa. 1975))

Because loitering is constitutionally protected, laws which regulate it are inherently suspect. Consequently, they must have a legitimate governmental purpose to forbid loitering in conjunction with other objectively verifiable improper conduct, in a manner which does not further infringe on citizens' constitutional rights and which takes into consideration substantially less restrictive alternatives. In this case, however, the ordinance does further infringe on citizens' first amendment rights. Speci-

fically, it lists **as** possible incriminating circumstances that the known prostitute "repeatedly beckons to, stops or attempts to stop, or engages passers-by in conversation, or repeatedly stops, or attempts to stop motor vehicle operators by hailing, waving of arms, or any bodily gesture These circumstances are not criminal in most situations and are not calculated to harm. The ordinance could thus be used to punish conduct by prostitutes which is essentially innocent and which the first amendment protects.

Under this ordinance, a prostitute could not organize a public demonstration to legalize prostitution. Under this ordinance, a prostitute must think twice about waving and calling to a friend, Profit v. City of Tulsa, 617 P.2d 250, 251 (Okla. Crim. App. 1980), talking to passers-by, Johnson v. Carson, 569 F. Supp. 974, 978 (M.D. Fla. 1983), hailing a taxi, City of Detroit V. Bowden, 149 N.W.2d 771, 773 (Mich. App. 1967), seeking charitable donations at street corners from automobile drivers, <u>B. A. A. v. State</u>, 356 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1978), windowshopping or standing on a street corner to hail a bus, Brown, 584 P.2d at 35; Christian v. City of Kansas City, 710 S.W.2d 11, 13 (Mo. App. 1986), hitchhiking or getting in a car with another person, <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 31 Fla. Supp. 2d 128, 131 (Fla. 4th Jud. Cir. 1988); associating with others on a street corner, <u>Sawyer</u>, 615 F.2d at 316, campaigning on street corners for political candidates, Northern Virginia Chaster, American Civil Liberties Union, et al. v. City of Alexandria, 747 F. Supp. 324, 328 (E.D. Vir. 1990), approaching persons to sign petitions, id., handing out phone numbers on business cards, id.,

or organizing community events, <u>id</u>. Each of these activities is protected under the first amendment. Yet, each activity would be suspicious to an onlooking officer who knew the prostitute's reputation. If the undersigned counsel had a known prostitute as a client, he would advise her not to perform any of these activities in Tampa, because an officer could be watching and choose to arrest her for this innocent protected conduct.

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