# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

AUG 22 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

RENETHA WYCHE	)		
Petitioner,	) ) )	Case No.:	77,440
vs.	j		
STATE OF FLORIDA	<u> </u>		
Respondent.	) }		

ON APPEAL FROM A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, LAKELAND, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PEGGY A. QUINCE
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar Number 261041
Westwood Center, Suite 700
2002 N. Lois Avenue
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

PAMELA K. AKIN CITY ATTORNEY OF TAMPA

TYRON BROWN

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

See also <u>U.S. v. Harris</u>, 347 **U.S.** 612 (1954). **Stated simply**, questions of vagueness are not synonymous with questions of guilt. The evidence of guilt in any particular case is irrelevant to a determination of the constitutionality of the statute on its face. That there may be marginal cases in which it is difficult to determine whether certain conduct is criminal is not sufficient reason to declare the ordinance unconstitutionally vague. This Court noted in the case of State **v.** Ecker, supra:

While the statute might be unconstitutionally applied in certain situations, this is no ground for finding the statute itself unconstitutional.

In <u>City of Milwaukee V. Wilson</u>, 291 N.W.2d 452 (Wis. 1980), the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, in upholding as constitutional Milwaukee's loitering for prostitution ordinance, which is similar to Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance and Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, stated:

This is not to say that a person involved in constitutionally protected activities or other innocent conduct could not be arrested or charged under the city's ordinance. It is certainly conceivable that a police officer could mistakenly, or even willfully, arrest for loitering with intent to

solicit for prostitution a person whose conduct was entirely innocent. But this would not be a proper application of the ordinance, and the fact that a law may be improperly applied or even abused does not render it constitutionally invalid. Id. at 458.

See also <u>City of Seattle v. Slack</u>, 784 P.2d 494,497 (Wash. 1989).

Therefore, the question is not whether there are isolated instances of unconstitutional application; rather, the issue of vagueness concerns:

- (1) Whether the ordinance is sufficiently specific so that men of reasonable understanding need not guess at its meaning; and
- (2) Whether the ordinance has sufficient guidelines in that it does not permit arbitrary and selective arrests by the police.

Both criteria are satisfied with respect to the Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance in the Tampa City Code. The wording of the first sentence of Section 14-76(2) is clear and unambiguous. The offense defined consists of two essential elements: (1) The overt act of loitering in a public place and (2) under circumstances manifesting the purpose(intent) of inducing, enticing, soliciting, or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution. The element of intent gives meaning to the element of loitering and is a rational basis for proscribing such acts as harmful conduct. Both elements of the offense must be proved.

According to Black's Law Dictionary, 849 (5th Ed. 1979), "loiter" is defined: "To be dilatory; to be slow in movement; to stand around or move slowly about; to stand idly around; to spend time idly; to saunter; to delay; to idle; to linger; to lag behind." Although loitering has been held to be a term of common usage with a meaning reasonably understood by men of common

intelligence, a prohibition of loitering alone would be unconstitutionally vague and overbroad, since individuals could stand or sit only at the caprice of police officers. Florida case law developed the requirement that a criminal enactment, when purporting to proscribe vaguely described activity, such as loitering, must modify or circumscribe the vaguely described activity by reference to specific or non-vague conduct.

This Court clarified the issue in the case of <u>State v. Ecker</u>, <u>supra</u>, in which the state loitering statute §856.021, Florida Statutes, was held constitutional. The Court held:

We readily recognize that if the statute broadly proscribed loitering or idling without more...it would be unconstitutional. On the other hand, it is recognized that if a statute proscribes loitering that threatens public safety or a breach of the peace, it can withstand constitutional attack. Id. at 107.

Notably, Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance, which is a mirror image of Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, was challenged on similar constitutional grounds, in 1979, in the County Court of Hillsborough County, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in State v. Davis, Case No. 79-8472, Division & rev'd State v. Davis, Case No. 79-8445, Circuit Court, Division E, cert. denied, Fla. 2d DCA, Case No. 80-1987. See attachment "B". In reversing a ruling by the County Court that the prostitution-loitering ordinance is unconstitutional, the Circuit Court held, in 1980, that the constitutional issues presented in State v. Davis had been resolved in State v. Ecker, supra, and other cases. In the present case, the Second District Court of Appeal of Florida,

in Wyche v. State, 573 So.2d 953 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), held this same ordinance constitutional. The 2nd DCA in Wyche stated:

On appeal, the defendant argues that the city ordinance prohibiting loitering for the purpose of prostitution is facially unconstitutional. Although a federal district court has held a similar Jacksonville ordinance unconstitutional, the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly upheld a less specific state loitering statute. Section 856.021, Florida Statutes (1989); compare Johnson v. Carson, 569 F. Supp. 974 (M.D. Fla. 1983) with <u>Watts v. State</u>, **463** So.2d **205** (Fla. 1985) and <u>State v. Ecker</u>, 311 **So.2d** 104 (Fla.), cert. denied sub. nom., Bell v. Florida, 423 U.S. 1019, 96 S.Ct. 455, 46 L.Ed.2d 391 (1975). Even if we are not constrained to follow the supreme court's decision, we agree with the supreme court's analysis and uphold the facial constitutionality of this ordinance. 954-955.

Similarly, Tampa's Loitering for Drugs Ordinance, Section 14-62, was held constitutional, in a previous case, in <u>Rogers v.</u>

<u>State</u>, case no. 89-17884, Circuit Court, Division X, cert. denied,

Fla. **2d** DCA, case no. 90-02204. See attachment "C".

In terms of specificity, Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance is much more explicit as to the conduct proscribed than that delineated within the State Loitering Statute which has consistently been upheld and certiorari denied by the United States Supreme Court. The Tampa City Code delineates with extraordinary detail how loitering with a manifested purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting, or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution is a crime; therefore, the ambiguity or generality which exists with loitering alone is not present in Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance.

Additionally, there is no ambiguity with the element of intent. The overt act of loitering alone, is not punishable, nor is the unlawful intent of soliciting punishable. There must be a union of the overt act of loitering with the intent/purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting, or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution. Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution

Ordinance clearly illustrates instances in which this intent may be manifested and which an observing police officer may use to help such officer establish probable cause that a violation of the ordinance has occurred or is occurring. These activities are:

That such person is a known prostitute, pimp, sodomist, performer of fellatio, performer of cunnilingus, masturbation for hire or panderer and repeatedly beckons to, stops or attempts to stop or engages passers-by in conversation or repeatedly stops or attemps to stop motor vehicle operatars by hailing, waiving of arms or any bodily gesture for the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution, sodomy, fellatio, cunnilingus, masturbation for hire, pandering or other lewd or indecent act. Section 14-76(2), City of Tampa Code.

Of course, these examples are not exclusive; but rather demonstrative of specific circumstances when the unlawful intent may be indicated.

Because of the ordinance's specificity with respect to the types of conduct indicating an unlawful intent, selective and arbitrary enforcement is not material as alleged. Section 14-76(2) does not make the accused's guilt or innocence depend on the subjective conclusions of the arresting officer. The U.S. Supreme Court said it best in the case of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, (1968):

The police officer must be **able** to point to specific and articulate facts which taken together with rational inferences from those facts; reasonably warrant... [a finding that the accused is loitering and manifesting the purpose of illegally using, possessing, transferring or selling any controlled substance as that term is defined by Florida Statutes.]

Section 14-76(2), City of Tampa Code, is clear and unambiguous. It provides assistance to observing officers in determining whether said intent is manifested by a possible offender. The Code provision provides ascertainable standards governing arrest and conviction for even-handed administration of justice. The ordinance forbids loitering in a manner and under circumstances (some examples of which are specifically delineated) manifesting an unlawful purpose; the unlawful purpose being to induce, entice, solicit or procure another to commit an act of prostitution. The guilt or innocence of an accused are of no significance when a criminal ordinance or law is challenged on constitutional grounds; instead, the issue is the forewarning of prohibited conduct to the public and to law enforcement officials. In that light, Section 14-76(2) is sufficient in its guidelines to provide adequate warning and notice to these individuals. Section 14-76(2) of the Tampa City Code is not in violation of any due process mandate as enunciated within the Florida and United States Constitution.

#### C. Section 14-76(2) does not require self-incrimination.

The third sentence of the Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance states:

No arrest shall be made for a violation of this paragraph unless the arresting officer first affords the person an opportunity to explain his conduct, and no one shall be convicted of violating this paragraph if it appears at trial that the explanation given was true and disclosed a lawful purpose. Section 14-76(2), City of Tampa Code.

That subsection is nearly identical to part of subsection (2) of the State Loitering law which provides:

Unless flight by the person or other circumstance makes it impracticable, a law enforcement officer shall, prior to any arrest for an offense under this section, afford the person an opportunity to dispel any alarm or immediate concern which would otherwise be warranted by requesting him to identify himself and explain his presence and conduct. No person shall be convicted of an offense under this section if the law enforcement officer did not comply with this procedure or if it appears at trial that the explanation given by the persan is true and, if believed by the officer at the time, would have dispelled the alarm or immediate concern. Section 856.021(2), Florida Statutes (1989).

The question of whether such provisions requires self-incrimination has been thoroughly reviewed **and** answered in the negative by State courts. This Court in <u>State v. Ecker</u>, <u>supra</u> at 110, stated:

We recognize that a defendant cannot be required to "explain his presence and conduct," this being constitutionally prohibited. We hold the provision in the statute which affords a person charged thereunder an opportunity to explain his presence and conduct is an additional defense to the charge. Clearly, an accused cannot be compelled to explain his presence and conduct without first being properly advised under Miranda standards. If the accused voluntarily explains his presence and such explanation dispels the alarm, no charge can be made.

Also, this Court in State v. Rash, 458, So.2d 1201 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) stated that:

The criminal conduct [in the State Loitering Law and the Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance] has been completed prior to any question, request or other action by the

police officers. Section **856.021(2)** does go on to require that the suspect be given an on-the-spot opportunity to dispel the officer's probable cause to arrest by identifying himself and explaining his presence and conduct, but this is not an element of the crime. Id at 1204.

See also <u>Watts v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 205 (Fla. 1985); <u>Hurst v.</u> <u>State</u>, 464 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1985).

The third sentence of Tampa's Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance, therefore, simply affords an accused person an opportunity to explain his presence and conduct as an additional defense to the charge. The accused is not compelled to give such explanation.

D. The Loitering for Prostitution Ordinance does not im properly allow consideration of a prostitute's previous convictions ok activities as a prostitute

Petitioner's argument, that the ordinance improperly allows evidence of a defendant's previous convictions as a prostitute, should not be considered by this Court since this issue was not presented to either the trial court or the Second District Court of Appeal. Since the issue was never properly raised in the correct forum, this Court should decline to address it. It is well settled law in this state that an issue must be presented to the trial court to preserve it for appellate review. See, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

In the district court, Petitioner raised three (3) issues for the court's consideration.

1. The trial court erred by denying the defense request to instruct on simple battery as a **lesser** included offense of battery on a law enforcement officer.

- 2. The ordinance against loitering for prostitution was unconstitutionally overbroad and vague and a violation of the equal protection doctrine; moreover, the evidence did not establish that Wyche was loitering for the purpose of committing prostitution.
- 3. The scoresheet scored too many prior felonies.

  There was no motion or objection in the trial court addressing this evidentiary issue, nor was the issue presented in the district court, which Petitioner now seeks to raise in this Court. The Second District certainly did not address such an issue. See, Wyche v. State, 573 So.2d 953 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

The issue has not be preserved for appellate review. Whitted v. State, 362 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1978).

Respondent further submits Petitioner's argument on the merits must also fall. Section 90.404, Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

- (2) Other crimes, wrongs, ok acts. -
- (a) Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

Thus, evidence of a defendant's prior convictions and criminal activities is not per **se** inadmissible. If the evidence is being offered for any reason other than to demonstrate bad character or propensity, it could be admitted.

Sub judice, one of the elements under the Loitering for

Prostitution Ordinance that must be proven by the state beyond a

reasonable doubt is that the circumstances demonstrates the defen-

dant was "manifesting the purpose of inducing, enticing, soliciting, or procuring another to commit an act of prostitution". In other words, the intent; of the defendant is an element of the offense. Under Section 90.404 other crimes, wrongs, etc., of the defendant can be used to prove that intent. Accord, <u>Jensen v. State</u>, 555 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 545 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1989) <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 463 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1984), and <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 598 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). Evidence of an idividual's prior convictions for prostituion related offenses, therefore, is admissible to show the defendant's intent under the ordinance, and is clearly appropriate under Section 90.404, Florida Statutes.

Should this Court, however, decide that the portion of the ordinance which allows the use of this similar fact evidence is improper, the entire ordinance should not be invalidated. That portion can be logically severed from the ordinance without affecting the validity of the other portions of the enactment. When such severability is practical, the court should do so rather than invalidate the entire enactment. See, Department of Revenue v. Magazine Publishers of America, Inc., 565 So.2d 1304 (Fla. 1990) and Delta Air Lines, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 455 So.2d 317 (Fla. 1984).

Respondent submits this issue is not properly before the Court since no objection was made in the trial court. Secondly, introduction of similar fact evidence is not precluded under Florida law but is specially recognized in Section 90.404, Florida Statutes.

E. The maximum six month penalty for loitering for prostitutian is legal.

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